## Supreme Court No. <u>94559-4</u>

COA No. 48018-2-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL GILMORE, a single man,

Plaintiff-Petitioner,

vs.

JEFFERSON COUNTY PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT AREA, d/b/a Jefferson Transit Authority, a municipal corporation,

Defendant-Respondent.
PETITION FOR REVIEW

David S. Heller, WSBA #12669 HELLER LAW FIRM, PLLC 860 SW 143<sup>rd</sup> Street Seattle, WA 98166 (206) 243-7300

Sunshine Bradshaw, WSBA #40912 PREMIER LAW GROUP 1408 – 140th Place NE Bellevue, WA 98007 (206) 285-1743

Co-Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Michael Gilmore asks the Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, designated in Part II of this Petition.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Gilmore seeks review of and reversal of the Court of Appeals decision filed on April 25, 2017, and requests reinstatement of the jury verdict in his favor. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is reproduced in Appendix A and is cited hereafter as "Opinion".

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Opinion reversed the jury's verdict in favor of the plaintiff, and raises the following issues for review:

- 1. Is excluding the testimony of proffered defense witness

  Alan Tencer in a motor vehicle tort case always an abuse of discretion?
- 2. Does a trial court <u>always</u> abuse its discretion when it declines to admit evidence of L&I benefits in a third party tort case, when a witness testifies to the injured worker's financial stress due to his injuries?
- 3. Does a trial court abuse its discretion when, in a civil case, it finds that an allegedly improper closing argument that was never object-

ed to was not, in the context of the entire record, a valid reason to overturn the jury verdict?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying facts are described in more detail in Mr. Gilmore's Respondent's Brief filed in the Court of Appeals. *See* Gilmore Br., at 5-19, attached hereto as Appendix B.

In brief, Michael Gilmore suffered serious injuries to his neck when defendant's bus rear-ended him while Mr. Gilmore was on the job. He ultimately needed multi-level neck fusion surgery, and his surgeon had to implant permanent surgical hardware to hold Mr. Gilmore's spine together. RP 650. Even after the surgery, Mr. Gilmore is only 70% recovered; he is doing better than he was before the surgery, but he still has pain and disability. RP 768.

Mr. Gilmore received L&I benefits, and he also filed a third party negligence lawsuit against the bus company. Defendant bus company admitted liability for causing the crash, and admitted that Mr. Gilmore was injured, but denied the crash had caused Mr. Gilmore significant harm.

Plaintiff presented testimony from Dr. Frank Marinkovich, MD, Dr. Marc Suffis, MD, and Dr. Geoffrey Masci, DC. Their testimony

provided evidence regarding his injuries and the fact that the crash ultimately made the surgery necessary. RP 650. At least four different "before and after" lay witnesses testified to Mr. Gilmore's health, strength, agility, and abilities before the collision, and to the changes they observed in him after the collision: pain, disability, and loss of function. RP 302, 508, 522, 532-34, 566.

Defendant's trial strategy was an attempt to convince the jury that Mr. Gilmore was faking his injuries and their connection to the collision, in order to get money from the bus company.<sup>1</sup> To that end, the defense

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Opinion states, at p. 11 fn. 2 that "Gilmore does not cite to any part of the record to support its position that Jefferson Transit made these statements. Our review of the record does not indicate that Jefferson Transit ever called Gilmore a liar, cheat or a fraud before the jury." Counsel is baffled by this. During pretrial motions, defense counsel repeatedly emphasized that the defense would attack Mr. Gilmore for "milking the system", RP 8; for his "motivation for 'secondary gain", RP 8-9; and for fraud: "He was trying to commit a fraud. And I can prove it. And the jury needs to know about it." RP 50. The trial court certainly got the message: "This defendant's theory [is] that Mr. Gilmore is either a fraud or a malingerer..." RP 56. During the presentation of evidence, defendant repeatedly claimed Mr. Gilmore lied. "Falsehoods", RP 471; "Failed to tell his treatment providers that he was on a 60 percent disability", RP 469; "testified under oath in a deposition that he never had prior neck pain when, in fact, there are medical records that indicate he had neck pain in 2007", RP 471; "Is there any number of falsehoods I could give you...?", RP 471; "Mr. Gilmore is not truthful with his doctors...", RP 475; "that's [what Mr. Gilmore told his doctor] not true, is it?, RP 722; "each of those medical providers had false information for Mr. Gilmore, didn't they?", RP 731. Defendant even called a "character witness", to testify to his opinion that Mr. Gilmore was dishonest. RP 832. Respondent's Brief in the Court of Appeals pointed out, pp. 15-18, that the defense called Mr. Gilmore a liar or fraud 16 times during closing argument, using phrases such as "he lied to you", RP 1019, "did not tell the truth", RP 1018, "not being truthful", RP 1018, "until the lies started surfacing", RP 1022, "a bunch of untruths", RP 1023, "hid the facts", RP 1025; "...goes in and claims disability they don't have just so they can get an additional government check..." RP 1023-24.

presented to the jury a surveillance video which purported to show Mr. Gilmore behaving in an uninjured manner; testimony from defense doctor Barbara Jessen, MD, who denied that Mr. Gilmore's surgery was related to the bus crash, RP 925; testimony from a "bad character witness" who opined that Mr. Gilmore was dishonest, RP 832; and entries from Mr. Gilmore's medical records which the defense claimed proved that Mr. Gilmore had lied about his pre-crash medical condition.

The jury heard all this evidence and found that Mr. Gilmore's witnesses and evidence were more credible than the defense's witnesses and evidence. It returned a \$1.2 million verdict in Mr. Gilmore's favor. The defense then made a CR 59 motion for a new trial or remittitur, claiming that the verdict was excessive, that there was discovery misconduct, and that Mr. Gilmore's trial counsel had misbehaved in her closing argument, though defendant never once objected to that argument while it was being made.

The trial court denied the motion for new trial, holding in part (CP 723-24, emphasis added, *see* Appendix F):

This was a hard-fought case characterized by aggressive advocacy, but the Court does not find, in the context of the entire record, that there was any event, misconduct, or discovery violation sufficient to justify a new trial or a remittitur; the Court does not find a basis to overturn the verdict.

Defendant appealed. On appeal, the defense continued to claim the verdict was excessive, calling it "unprecedented". Defendant also raised new issues, arguing that the trial court had committed reversible error by excluding the testimony of the frequently proffered defense witness Alan Tencer<sup>3</sup>, by allowing Dr. Masci to testify, by excluding evidence that Mr. Gilmore had received L&I benefits, and by denying a new trial after Mr. Gilmore's trial counsel had made a closing argument the defense claimed was so improper that the failure to object to it was unimportant.

Despite holdings from this Court and from Division I that the decision to exclude Tencer is a discretionary one; despite RCW 51.24.100 and precedent from this Court and Division I that evidence of L&I benefits is inadmissible; and despite holdings from this Court and from Division I that it is the trial court that decides the effect of alleged misconduct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>A \$1.2 million verdict is hardly "unprecedented". Plaintiff's counsel has had larger verdicts, comparable verdicts, and smaller verdicts in cases with similar injuries. More to the point, this Court has held it improper to compare a verdict to those in other cases to determine whether the verdict is excessive. To do so is "is inimical to the foundation of particularized justice." Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co., 120 Wn.2d 246, 266, 840 P.2d 860 (1992). Here, the trial court denied the motion for remittitur, which "strengthens the verdict". Bunch v. King County Dept. of Youth Services, 155 Wn.2d 165, 180, 116 P.3d 381 (2005); Terrell v. Hamilton, 190 Wn.2d 489, 510, 358 P.3d 453 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>"Dr. Tencer has been retained frequently as an expert defense witness in similar cases." Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 654, 312 P.3d 745 (2013).

upon the jury, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial judge and the jury's verdict, and ordered a new trial.

In reaching these holdings, the Court of Appeals erred, and if the Opinion is permitted to stand, it will cause substantial damage to Washington law, in ways that will affect every motor vehicle tort case, every L&I third party case, and every civil case.

## V. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

#### A. Standard for Review.

Of the four criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4, three apply to this case: the Opinion is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1); it is in conflict with published decisions of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2); and this petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. This Court held in Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga, 181 Wn.2d 346, 333 P.3d 388 (2014), that the decision to admit or exclude defense witness Alan Tencer's testimony in a motor vehicle tort case is a discretionary decision for the trial court, to be made on a case-by-case basis. The effect of Division II's ruling in this case is that a trial court has no discretion to exclude Tencer's testimony in a motor vehicle tort case. That is inconsistent Johnston-Forbes, supra. It also conflicts with Division I's decisions in Stedman v. Cooper, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012) and Berryman v.

Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 312 P.3d 745 (2013), and it raises issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

Until this case, no Washington trial court had ever been reversed for admitting or for excluding Alan Tencer. Yet the Opinion, at p. 18, holds it was an abuse of discretion to exclude Tencer because "a disputed issue existed as to the cause and nature and extent of Gilmore's injury", and therefore "Tencer's testimony would have allowed the jurors to make a more informed decision, especially given the contradictory evidence that the collision was not significant enough to cause injury." Opinion, at pp. 17-18.<sup>4</sup>

"A trial court has 'broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters and will not be overturned absent manifest abuse of discretion." Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle, 131 Wn.2d 640, 662-63, 935 P.2d 555 (1997). "[E]ven if we disagree with the trial court, we will not reverse its decision unless that decision is 'manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." State v. Dye, 178 Wn.2d 541, 547-48, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). Trial court discretion regarding evidence extends to rulings on expert witnesses. In re Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 38, 283

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>There is an enormous difference between a holding that a trial court <u>may</u> admit certain evidence, and a holding that the trial court <u>must</u> admit that evidence and that it lacks discretion to exclude it. It is that difference which makes the Opinion's Tencer decision so damaging to the law of evidence, expert witnesses, and trial court discretion.

P.3d 546 (2012), cert. denied, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 133 S. Ct. 889, 184 L.Ed.2d 661 (2013) (emphasis added) (trial court's decision regarding a proffered expert will not be disturbed by an appellate court except for "a very plain abuse" of discretion).

In this case, the trial court's complete oral decision on the motion in limine to exclude Tencer makes it clear that the trial judge read the parties' pleadings and declarations, heard both sides' oral arguments regarding him, and ultimately decided that <u>in this case</u> Tencer's testimony was not sufficiently reliable, and would violate ER 403. RP 38-39. Tencer did not know how fast the bus was traveling, RP 35, he did not review the depositions of the bus driver or the collision witnesses to determine that speed, RP 35, he did not know Mr. Gilmore's height or weight, RP 35, and he did not measure the damage to the bus, RP 38. The trial court stated, RP 38-39 (emphasis added):

As far as what I can tell from what I read, and the way I understand it, um, he makes a number of assumptions, some of which are based on facts that are not going to be in evidence. And it does – and he does create, um – he does – he does – well, it's – to me, it's intended to create an inference, um, of – well, I don't know, it's create – it's intended to create an inference with some aura of authority that I don't think is reasonable or justified. And I think that – I think it will be confusing to the jury. I think that it will be misleading to the jury.

Taken as a whole, the trial court's decision was within its discretion, as outlined in *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 357, 333 P.3d 388 (2014), in both the lead opinion and the concurrence. In the lead opinion, the Court held (emphasis added, citations omitted):

[T]rial courts are afforded wide discretion and trial court expert opinion decisions will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such discretion. If the basis for admission of the evidence is 'fairly debatable,' we will not disturb the trial court's ruling.

• • •

Before allowing an expert to render an opinion, the trial court must find that there is an adequate foundation so that an opinion is not mere speculation, conjecture, or misleading. It is the proper function of the trial court to scrutinize the expert's underlying information and determine whether it is sufficient to form an opinion on the relevant issue.

Justice Yu's four-justice concurrence, at 358, stated:

[I] write to caution that our decision is not an endorsement of Tencer or the use of biomedical engineers in cases concerning soft tissue injuries caused by car accidents. Moreover, our decision in this case does not overrule *Stedman* and *Berryman* [citations omitted], or the sound analysis provided by the Court of Appeals, Division One, on the question of whether such testimony is helpful. *See, e.g., Stedman....* 

...

The case-by-case nature of this inquiry stands for the proposition that an expert permitted to testify in a particular case does not bind future courts to automatically admit the same expert, even in a relatively analogous case.

Yet the Opinion, p. 17, focused on only a few words the trial judge mentioned in his oral ruling: "[Tencer] makes a number of assumptions, some of which [were] based on facts that [were] not going to be in evidence." In doing this, the Court of Appeals overparsed a single phrase, seemingly viewing the trial court's decision "in the light least favorable to the trial court", and failing to apply the principle that a trial court can be affirmed on any basis that appears in the record. *LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-201, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989); *State v. Mitchell*, 190 Wn. App. 919, 924, 361 P.3d 205 (2015).

The Court of Appeals did correctly observe that experts sometimes can rely on information not admissible in evidence. Opinion, p. 17. But the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate that experts cannot base their opinions on "assumptions". *Davidson v. Municipality of Metro. Seattle*, 43 Wn. App. 569, 719 P.2d 569 (1986). Indeed, the Court of Appeals expressly overruled the trial court's discretionary decision that in this case Tencer's opinion was speculative. <sup>5</sup> Opinion, at 17.

In holding that excluding Tencer was an abuse of discretion,

Division II relied on the improper, self-serving "legal argument" in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Speculative or unreliable testimony does not assist the trier of fact and is inadmissible. Anderson v. Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 600, 260 P.3d 857 (2011).

Tencer's declaration that **Tencer** believed his testimony "would assist the jury in understanding and assessing the differing opinions offered at trial." Opinion, p. 6.6

Worst of all, the Court of Appeals held at p. 17-18:

Because a disputed issue existed as to the cause and nature and extent of Gilmore's injury, Tencer's testimony would have allowed the jurors to make a more informed decision, especially given the contradictory evidence that the collision was not significant enough to cause injury.

The effect of this ruling extends far beyond this one case. If Division II were correct, then trial courts would be <u>required</u> to admit Tencer's testimony in <u>every</u> motor vehicle tort case, because <u>every</u> motor vehicle tort case involves a dispute as to the cause and/or the nature and extent of the plaintiff's injury. Trial courts would have no discretion to exclude Tencer's testimony.<sup>7</sup> That is directly contrary to both this Court's holding and to the concurrence in *Johnston-Forbes*, *supra*. It also contradicts this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Defendant had available to it plenty of other evidence regarding the nature of the impact, including testimony from its own bus driver employee (who for some reason defendant chose not to call at trial) and at least one bus passenger, RP 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Counsel are aware that the Opinion is "unpublished". But we also are aware of the September 2016 change to GR 14.1, permitting citation of unpublished Court of Appeals decisions "as nonbinding authorities". Whether technically "binding" or not, surely all trial courts in Division II, and perhaps throughout the State, would be hard pressed to ever exclude Tencer's testimony, when Division II has made it clear that it believes trial courts lack the discretion to do so.

Court's decisions cited at pp. 7-8, *supra*, providing trial courts with extensive discretion regarding the admissibility of expert testimony.

The Opinion also brings Division II into direct conflict with at least two published decisions from Division I: *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012) and *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 177 Wn. App. 644, 312 P.3d 745 (2013). Indeed, defendant admitted this inter-divisional conflict, and argued it to Division II, in connection with Division II's intended administrative transfer of this case to Division I.<sup>8</sup>

There is now an irreconcilable conflict between Divisions regarding Tencer. The Opinion cannot be reconciled with Division I's decisions in *Stedman* and *Berryman*, *supra*, which upheld trial courts that exercised their discretion and excluded Tencer. Because the testimony of Tencer and similar witnesses is offered frequently, *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 177 Wn.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>On August 10, 2016, Division II notified the parties it intended to administratively transfer this case to Division I. The parties were given the opportunity to move to "opt out" of the transfer. Defendant so moved on August 15, 2015, on the ground that there were conflicting decisions between Division I and Division II regarding Tencer's testimony. See, Appendix C (Notice of Transfer, Appellant's Motion to Opt Out, Order Granting Motion, and Clerk's Ruling). The Court of Appeals granted defendant's opt-out motion and retained this case, without even considering Mr. Gilmore's response. Id. Mr. Gilmore had argued to no avail that the apparent conflict between the divisions could be harmonized IF one interpreted all the cases as holding that the decision to admit or exclude Tencer was to be made on a case-by-case basis relying upon the trial court's discretion. That harmonizing principle has now been rejected by Division II, via its holding that the exclusion of Tencer is an abuse of discretion.

App. 644, 654, 312 P.3d 745 (2013), the prompt resolution of this conflict is important to the smooth functioning of our court system.

The Opinion on Tencer also implicates substantial public interests. It impacts judicial economy, by significantly impairing the discretion with which our trial courts have traditionally been entrusted. It impacts the State's interest in the full compensation of tort victims. And as explained below, it has the potential to do damage to the worker's compensation system.

C. This Court held in Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000) that evidence of L&I benefit payments is inadmissible, "even when it is otherwise relevant", even when it offered is to show malingering or to attack credibility. Division II in this case held that trial courts have no discretion to exclude evidence of L&I benefits where there was evidence the injured worker had financial stress after the injury. That ruling is inconsistent with Cox, supra, with Boeke v. International Paint Co., 27 Wn. App. 611, 620 P.2d 103 (1980), and with RCW 51.24.100, and it raises issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

Contrary to RCW 51.24.100, the defense sought to introduce collateral source evidence that Mr. Gilmore had received L&I benefits, to support its claim that he was malingering and to impeach some testimony that

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