FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/23/2017 10:09 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 94559-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL GILMORE, a single man,

Petitioner,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION BENEFIT AREA, d/b/a Jefferson Transit Authority, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Victoria E. Ainsworth WSBA No. 49677

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Division Two also reversed the trial court's denial of Jefferson Transit's motion for a new trial because the trial court excluded biomechanical engineering expert Dr. Allan Tencer's testimony by applying the wrong legal standard. (Op. 15-18) The trial court's ruling was based on an untenable reason because it failed to properly apply ER 702 and 703 in finding Dr. Tencer's proffered testimony had an "aura of authority" that was not "reasonable or justified" because it was "based on facts that [were] not going to be in evidence" – those facts being physics and fundamental engineering principles. (Op. 17) (alternation in original) Division Two correctly held this error grounds for a new trial because "Jefferson Transit could not present its theory of the case" without its expert's testimony. (Op. 18)

The trial court had also initially ruled that it would allow Jefferson Transit to introduce evidence that Mr. Gilmore had received

L&I payments if he opened the door, but subsequently excluded this evidence on the grounds that the door to collateral source evidence could *never* be opened, even after Mr. Gilmore elicited testimony that financial worries had caused him to suffer emotionally. (Op. 4, 11-12) Division Two properly concluded that "[t]o the extent that the trial court ruled that such evidence could never come in, . . . excluding the L&I payments after Gilmore opened the door to its admission was error." (Op. 20)

Any, or all, of these three grounds justified a retrial.

C. Grounds for Denial of Review.

This Court should deny Mr. Gilmore's petition because Division Two's decision is not in conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

1. Division Two's remand for new trial because the verdict was based on a flagrant and ill-intentioned closing argument designed to incite the jury's passion and prejudice was completely proper under this state's case law.

The Court of Appeals neither misread the record nor substituted its judgment for that of the trial court (Petition 19-20) in recognizing that galvanizing the jury to punish the defendant in a motor vehicle accident case as "the government," after accusing it of fraud, "murder[ing] innocent people," and "get[ing] away with it," was

indefensible and prejudicial misconduct. (Op. 23-24) That petitioner characterizes and defends counsel's closing as "technically improper" (Petition 20, n.11) only illuminates the wisdom of Division Two's conclusion that plaintiff's counsel engaged in flagrant misconduct.

The trial court's denial of a new trial is subject to greater scrutiny than the grant of a new trial. *Teter v. Deck*, 174 Wn.2d 207, 215, ¶14, 274 P.3d 336 (2012) (Petition 19). A party does not waive an error on appeal for failing to timely object to misconduct that is "so flagrant and prejudicial that no instruction to disregard it would have cured it." *Warren v. Hart*, 71 Wn.2d 512, 518, 429 P.2d 873 (1967). The "necessary inquiry, therefore, is whether the incidents of misconduct referred to were so flagrant that no instruction of the court, or admonition to disregard, could suffice to remove the harm caused thereby." *Carabba v. Anacortes School Dist. No. 103*, 72 Wn.2d 939, 954, 435 P.2d 936 (1967).

Division Two engaged in exactly that inquiry, rendering any preservation issues irrelevant. (Petition 19-20) The Court determined that counsel's repeated instances of misconduct during closing argument — telling the jury that the government "murders innocent people" and "tries to . . . blame it on the victim" to "get[] away with it," asking the jury to hold the government accountable for its misdeeds,

and accusing the defense of fraud in handling its case (RP 1031-32, 989, 991, 996) — were so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no curative instruction could have removed the prejudice such arguments incited. (Op. 21-24) The trial court's failure to find prejudicial misconduct was a clear abuse of discretion. *Cf. Teter*, 174 Wn.2d at 226, ¶ 37 (Petition 19) (affirming trial court's grant of new trial — which is subject to less scrutiny on review — where trial court's ruling is "adequately supported by the record").

Division Two's holding was not a substitute for the trial court's judgment. In *Dickerson v. Chadwell, Inc.*, 62 Wn. App. 426, 433, 814 P.2d 687 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1011 (1992) (Petition 19), Division One had only a "partial record" before it. As a result, the Court had no choice but to "uphold the trial court's determination of prejudice." *Dickerson*, 62 Wn. App. at 433. Here, however, Division Two had the benefit of the entire record when it determined there was no way to cure counsel's immensely prejudicial argument, inciting the jury to punish the government for perpetuating fraud, murdering innocent people, and "get[ting] away with it," by awarding Mr. Gilmore a lot of money. (Op. 24) Division Two reached the *only* conclusion that it properly could on this record: "that the inflammatory remarks led to an arguably excessive damages award

because it incited the passion and prejudice of the jurors." (Op. 23) This holding is entirely consistent with Washington law, and is not grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

2. Division Two's decision that a trial court must apply the correct legal standard when determining the admissibility of expert testimony is entirely consistent with the evidentiary rules and decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner's hyperbolic claim that review should be granted because "the Opinion's Tencer decision [is] so damaging to the law of evidence, expert witnesses, and trial court discretion" (Petition 7 n.4) is premised on his erroneous contention that Division Two's unpublished opinion now compels trial courts to admit Dr. Tencer's testimony in motor vehicle tort cases. (Petition 11, 7 n.4) Petitioner mischaracterizes not only the holding, but the extent and effect, of the Court of Appeals' decision.

The Court of Appeals did not "focus[] on only a few words the trial judge mentioned in his oral ruling" or "fail[] to appreciate that experts cannot base their opinions on 'assumptions'" (Petition 10) in holding that a trial court necessarily "abused its discretion when it excluded the testimony by applying the wrong legal standard." (Op. 16-18) Division Two acknowledged that "[e]xclusion of evidence which is cumulative or has speculative probative value is not reversible

error." (Op. 16) But the trial court's reasoning that Dr. Tencer's proffered testimony was "intended to an inference with some aura of authority" that was not "reasonable or justified" because his opinion was "based on facts that [were] not going to be in evidence" evinced an improper application of ER 703. (Op. 17) (alteration in original)

Under ER 703, experts may "rely on facts not in evidence if the information or data is of a type reasonably relied on by experts in the particular field." (Op. 17) Dr. Tencer "calculated the forces operating on Gilmore based on fundamental engineering principles." (Op. 17) "While the data underlying his calculations were not in evidence, it was of a type reasonably relied on by experts in his field in forming opinions on the subject." (Op. 17) The trial court's exclusion of Dr. Tencer's testimony for being based on facts not in evidence was clearly an improper application of the Rules of Evidence, and the trial court's incorrect decision necessarily prejudiced Jefferson Transit (notably, petitioner does not contend otherwise) in this motor vehicle accident case of such "low impact" that plaintiff's vehicle was not even damaged.

This Court addressed the issue of Dr. Tencer's testimony just three years ago, in *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 354, ¶ 16, 333 P.3d 388 (2014), directing trial courts to apply the

"analytical framework required under the ERs" in determining the admissibility of Dr. Tencer's – and any expert's – testimony. Under that framework, expert testimony "is admissible if the expert is qualified and relies on generally accepted theories and the testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact," even where the expert bases opinions on facts not in evidence. *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 355, ¶ 17; ER 702, 703.

Division Two's holding that a trial court commits reversible error when a party is prejudiced by the trial court's application of a legal standard different than that articulated in *Johnston-Forbes* is entirely consistent with this Court's decision in that case. (Petition 9, 11) It is uncontroverted that a trial court necessarily abuses its discretion when its reasoning is based on an error of law, *Reese v. Stroh*, 128 Wn.2d 300, 310, 907 P.2d 282 (1995), and petitioner does not argue otherwise. The trial court's broad discretion in admitting or excluding expert testimony is necessarily premised on its proper application of the analytic test required under the Rules of Evidence. Division Two correctly recognized that *Johnston-Forbes* compels reversal where, as here, the trial court failed to perform its "proper gatekeeping function" by failing to follow that "analytic framework." *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 354-55, ¶16. (Op. 17-18)

This Court should not accept review of an unpublished decision to address an issue it exhaustively analyzed just a few years ago in *Johnston-Forbes*. Division Two did *not* hold that trial courts "must admit that evidence and that it lacks discretion to exclude it." (Petition 7 n.4) Nor did Division Two hold that Dr. Tencer's testimony would *always* be relevant or helpful to the jury. (Petition 11) Division Two expressly reiterated what this Court emphasized in *Johnston-Forbes*: "admitting expert testimony is based on a case-by-case, fact-specific inquiry." (Op. 16 n.3, citing *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 358 (Yu, J., concurring)) Trial courts still have wide discretion in determining the admissibility of expert testimony – provided that they apply the correct legal standard. And, as long as trial courts retain such discretion, Division Two's decision is not "damaging" to Washington law, by petitioner's own admission. (*See* Petition 7 n.4)

Division Two also does not create "an irreconcilable conflict between Divisions"² (Petition 12), because the cases on which

² Nor did Jefferson Transit "admit" there is a conflict between the lower courts on this issue. (Petition 12, n.8) In its Motion to Opt Out of Transfer to Division One, Jefferson Transit argued that *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012), was not binding precedent and that *Johnston-Forbes*, decided one year later, was the controlling law here. Had Division Two followed *Stedman* instead, there would have been a conflict between the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. But because Division Two properly applied *Johnston-Forbes* and reversed the trial court for applying the incorrect legal standard, there is no conflict under either RAP 13.4(1) or (2).

petitioner relies neither raised nor addressed the specific issue before Division Two in this case: whether the trial court incorrectly applied ER 703. In Stedman v. Cooper, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012), the appellant never claimed that the trial court failed to apply the proper framework for the admission of expert evidence, but challenged the exclusion of Dr. Tencer's testimony on relevance grounds. The appellant argued only that the trial court's decision was erroneous, and Division One relied solely on out-of-state case law to uphold the trial court's exclusion of Dr. Tencer's testimony as being "logically irrelevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident." Stedman, 172 Wn. App. at 18-21, ¶¶ 21-25. A year later, Division One again affirmed a trial court's exclusion of Dr. Tencer's testimony for being "consistent with [the] court's reasoning in affirming the decision to exclude his testimony in Stedman" on relevance grounds in Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. App. 644, 654, ¶ 18, 312 P.3d 745 (2013), rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 1026 (2014). But, just as in Stedman, the appellant never alleged in Berryman that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard under ER 703; simply, that the trial court had reached the wrong conclusion in making a relevance determination under the particular facts of a particular case.

Division Two's unpublished decision that a trial court necessarily abuses its discretion when it applies the wrong legal standard in excluding expert testimony is entirely consistent with these cases and is not an issue of substantial public interest. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), or (4).

3. Division Two's conclusion that the door to collateral source benefits can be opened is in accord with the common law and statutory law, and does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

Just as it did in denying the defense Dr. Tencer's testimony, the trial court also applied the incorrect legal standard in preventing the defense from rebutting plaintiff's claim that he was entitled to massive general damages because the minor impact left him in dire financial straits. Petitioner blatantly misrepresents and distorts Division Two's opinion in arguing that it "eviscerate[ed]... the collateral source rule" because "trial courts have no discretion to exclude evidence of L&I benefits where there was evidence the injured worker had financial stress after the injury." (Petition 13, 18) To the contrary, Division Two narrowly held only that, "[t]o the extent that the trial court ruled that such evidence could never come in," "excluding the L&I payments after Gilmore opened the door to its admission was error." (Op. 20) (emphasis added) Thus, Division Two advanced the unremarkable

proposition that the trial court has discretion to admit evidence of the L&I payments if plaintiff again opens the door on remand.

This holding is wholly consistent with this Court's decisions in Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 134 Wn.2d 795, 953 P.2d 800 (1998), and Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000) (Petition 14-15). Because "courts generally follow a policy of strict exclusion," "even when it is otherwise relevant, proof of such collateral payments is usually excluded." Cox, 141 Wn.2d at 441 (emphasis added). But this Court held in Johnson that evidence that the plaintiffs' family did not have as much money as it used to could open the door to collateral source evidence: "Injured parties may, however, waive the protections of the collateral source rule by opening the door to evidence of collateral benefits. The trier of fact is free to make this determination upon remand." Johnson, 134 Wn.2d at 804.

Even where the door has not been opened, as in *Johnson*, this Court has directed the trial courts to engage in an ER 403 inquiry to determine the admissibility of collateral source evidence. In *Cox*, for instance, this Court held that, despite the "marginal relevance" of the collateral source evidence, "such relevance [wa]s outweighed by the unfair influence this evidence would likely have had upon the jury." 141 Wn.2d at 441. In so ruling, this Court was particularly "satisfied

that exclusion of evidence of the industrial insurance benefits did not harm [the defendant] in any significant way." *Cox*, 141 Wn.2d at 441.

It is irrelevant that this Court in *Johnson* "rejected the argument that collateral source benefits could be used to support a claim of malingering" (Petition 14), because that is not the purpose for which Jefferson Transit sought to introduce the evidence at trial. The question here was not, as it was in *Johnson*, whether "the claimant already has enough money and, therefore, is not disabled." 134 Wn.2d at 803. For that reason, this case does not conflict with *Boeke v. International Paint Co. (California), Inc.*, 27 Wn. App. 611, 617, 620 P.2d 103 (1980), *rev. denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1004 (1981) (Petition 18), where Division One held that "evidence of plaintiffs' workmen's compensation income" was barred under the collateral source rule "to show both plaintiffs' lack of motivation to return to work."

Here, Jefferson Transit sought to introduce evidence of Mr. Gilmore's L&I payments only to refute his testimony of his allegedly dire financial situation, which he had introduced in violation of an order in limine he had sought. And, unlike in *Cox*, 141 Wn.2d at 441, the exclusion of that evidence significantly harmed Jefferson Transit's defense. Division Two's unpublished decision does not conflict with any of the other cases petitioner cites either. In *Ciminski v. SCI Corp.*,

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